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built on the ruins of a church and a monastery from the Byzantine
period. The monastery, which was restored in 1955 and looks like a
fortified compound, also commemorates the place where, according
to Christian tradition, the Children of Israel crossed the Jordan (hence
its Arabic name, Qasr el-Yahud - the castle of the Jews). South of the
Greek Orthodox monastery are a small chapel built by the Franciscans,
a Syrian monastery, a Coptic manastery, a Russian chapel, an Ethiopian
monastery and a Romanian monastery. The large number of
monasteries and chapels on the banks of the Jordan indicates the
importance of the site and its centrality in Christian tradition.

This is the end of the route. Those who wish to do so can return to
Jerusalem via the next route, which offers a visit to the Christian sites
along the highway between Jericho and Jerusalem.
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seventh century. In the Middle Ages, Christian tradition connected the
monastery and the surrounding caves with St. Joachim. It was
considered the place to which he retreated to lament the barrenness
of his wife Anne, and where the Angel appeared and announced the
birth of Jesus’ mother, Mary. Another tradition identifies the site as
the cave to which the Prophet Elijah retreated for three years, where
he was fed by the ravens {1 Kings 17 3-7).

Towards the end of the twelfth century, during the Crusader period,
the monastery was rebuilt by the Byzantine Emperor Manuel |
Comnenus. A contemparary source described the monastery as a
magnificent site — many of its sections were carved out of the rock,
and it was located in a most isolated spot. After the departure of the
Crusaders the monastery was deserted and destroyed. Its
reconstruction was initiated in 1878 by the Greek monk Callinicos,
who settled there and began to rebuild it. By 1901 construction of
most of the monastery had been completed. The bell tower was built
in 1952 by Timothy I, the Patriarch of Jerusalem.

The monastery has three levels: the upper one contains the church of
the cave named after the Prophet Elijah, while on the middle level can
be found the main buildings of the monastery named after John and
George of Choziba, as well as the church of the Virgin Mary; on the
lowest level are the arched storerooms, the tombs of the five Syrian
monks mentioned above, and the ancient church.

The monastery also owns the orchards and agricultural areas in the
bed of the wadi and on its slopes, as well as the flour miil that in the
past was powered by water conveyed in an aqueduct from the spring
in Wadi Kelt. The monastery — which is still active today - is built on a
narrow, long rock shelf above the wadi with a profusion of water and
greenery surrounding it. It is considered one of the most beautiful
Christian sites in the Holy Land.

Wadi Kelt, often identified in Christian tradition with the Brook Cherith
{1 Kings 17: 5}, was used in ancient times as a central route between
Jericho and Jerusalem. Along this route Jesus made his last journey
to Jerusalem, and many pilgrims have travelled that ancient road in
the opposite direction - from Jerusalem to the Jordan. During the
Byzantine period the first monks lived near the springs of Ein Kelt and
Ein Fara on the slopes of the wadi. The monastery near Ein Fara, which
is called Pharan, is thought to be the first in the Judean Desert. It was
founded by Chariton around 330, and served as the ideal model of a
monastery for the monks of the Judean Desert.
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of which nothing has remained. The origins of the present building
are apparently from the seventh century when it served as a way station
between Jericho and Jerusalem (a milestone from this period can be
seen near the building). During the Mamluk period the structure served
as an inn mainly for Muslim pilgrims on their way to Nebi Musa. It
was also used as a station for changing horses by the Mamluk courier
service. Today the structure is abandoned, but there are plans to restore
and develop it in the near future.

On the other side of the road one can distinguish the remains of a
fortress at the top of the ascent, halfway between Jericho and
Jerusalem. This site, of which mention was made even in ancient
Egyptian documents, has served from antiquity as an observation point
and guard post along the main road from the eastern side of the Jordan
through Jericho to Jerusalem. During the Crusader period the Templar
Knights built the fortress on the crest of the hill to protect Christian
travelers on their way from Jerusalem to the baptismal site at the
Jordan River and to the Dead Sea. The Crusader ruins still visible at
the site are the moat and the foundations of the buildings. The arches
above them date from the Mamluk and |ater periods.

The name of the place, Ma’ale Adummim, orthe “red ascent” {Joshua
15:7), apparently derives from the red color of the metamorphic rocks
at the site . However, the reputation it acquired as a place where robbers
attacked pilgrims on their way to Jerusalern led Hieronymus, the abbot
of the monastery, to claim early in the fourth century that the place
got its name from the great quantity of blood shed in the murderous
attacks of brigands on innocent passersby.

_ The Monastery of Euthymius
(Khan el-Afunar T

Note
An archeological site in the industrial zone of Mishor Adummim.

About a kilometer and a half south of the Jerusalem-Jericho road, in
the industrial zone of Mishor Adummim, are the ruins of one of the
most important monasteries in the Judean Desert. It was founded by
St. Euthymius, one of the major leaders of the monastic order in the
Judean Desert during the fifth century.

Euthymius, a monk of Armenian origin from Cappadocia, decided at
the age of twenty-nine to make a pilgrimage to the holy places in
Jerusalem and to become a monk in the Judean Desert. In 405 he
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isindicative of the important role it played in the life of the community.
The tomb was also on the itinerary of the many pilgrims who visited
the monastery during the Byzantine period.

The erypt includes two chambers: the central hall and a secondary
one, just to the west of the first. Nine masonry burial troughs were
discovered under the paving stones (maost of which are missing) of
the central, rectangular chamber, whose walls and ceiling are
constructed of fine ashlars, According to the deseription of the monk
Cyril of Scythopalis, the central of these burial troughs is that of
Euthymius. Two large burial troughs were discovered in the secondary
chamber, containing the skeletons of more than a hundred monks of
high status, who probably asked to be buried near St. Euthymius.
From the crypt we will continue to the monastery’s church, on the
upper level, built upon a substructure of three vaults. Excavations have
revealed that the church and the arches were rebuilt in the latter half
of the seventh century, and that extensive renovations of the church
and its ornamental elements werg undertaken by the Crusaders inthe
twelfth century. The Crusader church is divided into a nave and two
flanking aisles. A colorful mosaic floor incorporating geometric designs
and animal representations, which has been dated to the Umayyad
period {the seventh and eighth centuries}, was found in the socuthern
aisle. The floor of the nave is ornamented with stone slabs of various
sizes and colors, in the opus sectile style, and is dated to the twelfth
century.

I 1 Martyrius Monastery
at Ma’ale Adummim

Note
An archecfogical site inside the city of Ma'ale Adummim.

Visiting hours
Sunday-Thursday 8:00-16:00, Friday 8:00-13:00, Saturday closed.
Entrance fee. Tel. 02-5356-031

In Khirbet el-Murassas, on a hill east of the Jerusalem-Jericho road in
the heart of the moedern city of Ma’'ale Adummim, a large, impressive
Byzantine monastery was uncovered at the beginning of the 1980s
during the construction of the city. The total area of the monastery is
about 2.5 acres (about 70x80 meters), The monastery was founded by
Martyrius, a monk from Cappadocia, who arrived in 4567 together with
the monk Elias of Arabia at Euthymius’ laura in Khan el-Ahmar. They
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The ancient church, probably founded during the earliest period of
the monastery's existence, under Martyrius, was discovered about fifty
centimeters under the floor of the present church. It had not been
destroyed but has been preserved under the present-day church. This
church complex included a rectangular church, a chapel, auxiliary
rooms, a narthex and a burial hall, with round and hexagonal
medallions containing various animals and geometrical designs.

We leave the church and continue to the northern wing of the
maonastery with the Cave of Martyrius at its center (3). It is here, most
probably, that he lived after leaving the laura of Euthymius. At some
later date it was turned into a burial cave. A seven-line inscription,
partially damaged, was discovered above the cave, mentioning by
name three priests — Georgius, lohannes and Elpidius - who were laid
to rest here,

From here we shall continue to the most impressive remains of the
refectory, measuring 31x25 meters (4). It contained a dining hallin the
shape of a basilica, an entrance room and a kitchen, above which was
a second story, Next to the refectory was an open courtyard with a
large cellar at its side, probably for the storage of wines. The central
hall contained a beautiful colored maosaic floor which has survived in
its entirety. In all probability, this hall had a wooden ceiling with a tiled
roof above it. Stone benches, 40 cm high, were discovered around the
walls of the central hall; they were plastered over so that the clothes of
the monks sitting on them would not be soiled. A dedicatory inscription,
indicating that the dining hall was built during the days of Abbot
Genesius, was found near its entrance.

A very important discovery was made in the kitchen, just to the south
of the dining hall. Here were found huge storage vats, metal utensils,
marble tables, plates, cooking pots and dezens of ceramic jugs for
drinking wine. Some eggshells were even found in one of the cooking
pots.

From the dining hall we shall proceed to the bath house (5), located
near the two large cisterns. This is the first known instance of a bath
house in a monastery of the Byzantine period. During the Umayyad
period, after the monastery was deserted, a farm was established in
this area which utilized the huge quantities of water stored in the
monastery (6}.

We now continue our tour to the southeastern section of the monastery
and the "Chapel of the Three Priests” (7). This chapel, established
during the final stage of the monastery’s existence, was discovered in
the western part of this section. It contains a magnificent mosaic floor
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When Saladin took Jerusalem from the Crusaders late in the twelfth
century, the church on this site was also destroyed. In 1866 the French
duchess Princesse de la Tour d’Auvergne, the daughter of a well-known
Italian author, arrived in the country and acquired the deserted site for
the Carmelite nuns, who have remained at the site ever since. The
church and the Carmelite convent were built in 1874 with money
donated by the duchess. By her own wish, her remains were brought
there for burial after she passed away and rest to this day in the stone
sarcophagus which bears her statue. [n an urn beside the sarcophagus
is the heart of her father.

The part of the convent open to visitors includes the square yard
surrounded by pillared corridors decorated with maore than eighty
ceramic plaques ¢n which the Pater Noster (“Our Father Who Art in
Heaven”) prayer is inscribed in as many languages. These include
languages that are nc longer in use or spoken languages that have np
written form, and hence appear in Latin transliteration. In the western
part of the courtyard are the remains of an unfinished church - the
Church of the Holy Heart - the construction of which was begun after
the First World War in 1920. The church, which was supposed to
symbaolize the desire for universal peace at the very site where Jesus
and his disciples had memorized the secret of Christian brotherhood,
was never completed because of financial difficulties. Under the raised
platform of the unfinished church is a crypt carved out of the stone,
On its eastern side is an apse, and on the western side is a passageway
to an earlier burial cave. A Christian tradition dating from the Byzantine
period identifies the spot as the place where Jesus taught his disciples
the secrets of redemption and of the Millenamium. The burial room
was apparently used in Byzantine times to inter the bishops of
Jerusalem.

This is the end of the route. Those who wish 10 do so can continue
from here to the Mosque of the Ascension or proceed down the western
slope of the Mount of Olives, which offers a wonderful view of the Old
City of Jerusalem, towards the Dominus Flevit Church and the churches
in Gethsemane.
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The name King Solomon’s Pools was given to these pools by Christian
travelers who attributed their construction to King Solomon because
of the verse in Ecclesiastes (attributed to Solomon): “I build for me
pools of water, wherewith to water the wood of green trees”
(Ecclesiastes 2: 6}, However, in fact, the pools were built 800 years
later during the Hellenistic and Roman period, as part of a project for
supplying water to Jerusalem, which had by that time become a large
city in need of enormous quantities of water.

These three gigantic pools are the heart of the ancient aqueduct system
to Jerusalem. The two upper pools receive water from the springs in
the hills of Hebron (in Wadi el-Arrub and Wadi el-Biyar). Through the
upper aqueduct water flowed to the city itself, while from the lower
pool another aqueduct carried water directly to the Temple Mount,
which needed large quantities of water to perform various purification
rituals. It is believed that the lower aqueduct was built during the rule
of the Hasmoneans (the Hellenistic period, second century BCE}). The
upper aqueduct was probably built in Herod's time (the late first century
BCE} and renovated by the Roman army after the conquest of
Jerusalem in 70 CE.

The pools and the aqueducts were in constant use from the Roman
period until 1967. During the Ottoman period a ceramic pipe was
installed along the lower aqueduct, and later a pump was added beside
the pools. Only after the 1967 Six-Day War was the use of Solomon’s
Pools discontinued, being economically unfeasible. The capacity of
the pools is 280,000 cubic meters. The three pools were built along
the bed of the Artas Valley, one higher than the other in such a way
that the overflow from the upper poal ran into the one below it.
Opposite the pools an the other side of the street are the remains of an
Ottoman fortress, Qal'aat el-Burak, which was built in the seventeenth
century to defend the pools. In recent years there has been much
development activity atthis site, A tourist center with restaurants, souvenir
shops and a museum are now under construction.

I rics - the village and the convent

Visiting Vhomr's at the convent
Daily, except Sunday 8:00-12:00; 15:00-18:30. Tel. 02-2742-427

The source of the name Artas is a corruption of the Latin “hortus”, which
means gardens. The source of this name is the Christian tradition that

.
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And in fact at the top of the hill there is a circular structure, unique and
quite extraordinary not only in the Holy Land but in afl of the ancient
world. Around this structure, whose circumference is 63 meters, the
builders threw down the debris which gave the hill its cone shape (like
a breast), visible for miles. This complex served both as a mighty
fortress and a magnificent palace. Herod assured a steady supply of
water hy means of a special aqueduct that began in the area of
Solomon’s Pools and Artas.

The palace was six or seven stories high, surrounded by three semi-
circular towers and one huge circular tower with a circumference of
about 18 meters, of which only the foundations, which are for the
most part sealed off, remain today. Inside the structure stood Herod's
gorgeous private villa, which included a large reception room, halis
and living quarters, as well as a magnificent bath house. At the base
of the hill Herod built the lower city, which covered an area of 200
dunams and included a large palace, a big pool, an extensive
monumental building and a path that was meant to be used for Herod's
royal funeral. The Herodicon fortress, which looks out onto the desert
but is within view of Jerusalem, the capital, became Herod's most
magnificent palace, serving as his monument and last resting place. It
should be noted that this was one of the grandest palaces built at the
time in the Roman Empire. )

After Herod's death the site was used twice, during the Great Revolt
(66-70 CE) and the revolt of Bar Kakhba {132-135 CE), by the Jewish
extremist fighters who rebelled against the Romans. In the Christian
Byzantine period it once more became an important center. The three
churches that were built here were decorated with mosaic floors that
have been uncovered in archeoclogical excavations. The site was
deserted about the time of the Muslim conquest in the seventh century
and remained abandoned until it was rediscovered in the fifteenth
century. The first traveler to mention the site was a Bominican friar,
Felix Faber (1483}, who connected the remains he saw here to a story
that was widespread in those days among Christians. It told of a group
of frank knights (known as the Crusaders}, who fled to this spot after
Jerusalemn fell to Saladin in 1187. For this reason Herodion was also
known as the Mountain of the Franks.

From the nineteenth century until the present, Herodion has become
a focus of archeological excavations and intensive research. Recently,
a surprise assault system from the Bar Kokhba period was found in
Upper Herodion. it includes water cisterns, tunnels and hidden
apertures for sneak attacks — all witness to the great ingenuity of its
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displayed in a small building beside the steps of the church. The
magnificent church is decorated with scenes from the lives of John
the Baptist and Jesus. Above the central altar, which is dedicated to
Elisabeth, the mother of John the Baptist, is a painting of Mary's visit
to En Kerem attributed to the renowned Spanish painter El Greco (154 1-
1614). The painting on the southern wall describes the slaying of John
the Baptist and is attributed to Ribalta, another well-known Spanish
painter of the seventeenth century.

To the left of the main altar is the cave of John the Baptist, which is
believed to be where Elisabeth, while in hiding from Herod’s soldiers,
gave hirth to John the Baptist. The beautiful marble altar in the cave
was a present of Queen Isabella of Spain in 1851.

An amazing collectien of gilded clerical robes, gold and silver vessels,
icons and ancient books, and even an ancient music score from the
Middie Ages is kept in the monks' dressing room to the right of the
altars. The church courtyard is decorated with twenty-one ceramic
plaques, each bearing, in a different language, the "Benedictus” prayer
recited by Zacharias, the father of John the Baptist, after the birth of
his son (Luke 1: 68-79). To the east of the church one can see the new
hostel that was built in 1857, known as Casa Nova. To its right is the
bell tower, a gift from the Spanish court, which was built in 1859. The
four bells, that toll exactly at 12:00 noon, are dedicated to John the
Baptist, Elisabeth, Zacharias and to the visitation of the Angel to
Elisabeth.

The second important church is the Church of the Visitation at the
southern end of the village, near the spring which is known as the
Virgin's Fountain. Christian tradition identifies the church with the
summer house of Zacharias and Elisabeth, the parents of John the
Baptist. It was here that the meeting is said to have taken place between
the two pregnant women: Mary, who was soon to give birth to Jesus,
and Elisabeth, who was carrying John the Baptist. The two blessed
each other and John even jumped for joy in Elisabeth’s womb at
hearing Mary's blessing {Luke 1: 39-56). In the courtyard of this church
are forty-seven ceramic plaques on which appear, in the same number
of languages, the “Magnificat” — Mary's prayer of thanks while she
carried Jesus in her womb (Luke 1: 46-56).

The site was purchased by the Franciscan Order in 1679 with the
intention of renovating it, but only in the 1860s was permission granted
to restore the place. The modern church, which commemorates the
Visitation, was built in 1955 by the well-known ltalian architect Antonio
Barluzzi, some of whose work we have encountered on other routes.
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On the lower floor are the remains of an ancient cave, traditionally the
site where John the Baptist hid when he fled from King Herod's soldiers
at the time of the massacre of the babes in Bethlehem. The walls are
decorated with scenes from the life of John the Baptist.

On the second floor one can see remains of a Crusader church which
are integrated into the modern walls. This floor is decorated with
impressive wall paintings portraying events and traditions in Christian
history, including one of the architect Barluzzi himself (dressed in a
suit beside the woman in yellow). [n the central apse is a painting of
Mary and Jesus in the desert, with a Franciscan monk dedicating the
church to her. Looking on is St. Francis of Assisi, the founder of the
Franciscan Order, and Alberto Gori, the Latin Patriarch of Jerusalem
at the time of the church's dedication.

In addition to the two churches, En Kerem also includes a number of
monasteries and other Christian institutions. These were built in the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries as the result of
competition between the different Christian sects and the European
powers for control of the Holy Places. The most cutstanding of them
are the Convent of the Sisters of Zion {also serving today as a hostel),
the Russian Monastery (which spreads over a large area running down
to the village) and the convents of the Sisters of the Rosary and Saint
Vincent de Paul, which serve as institutions for orphans and the sick.
The churches with their spires, the picturesque houses, the terraced
hitllsides around the village and its special location among the
surrounding hills make En Kerem one of the more charming corners
of Jerusalem.

B Monastery of St. John in thie Desert

Visiting hours
e_ve"r_y day from 9:00~12:00, 14:00-17.00.
Entrance fee. Tel. 02-6431-937

About five kilometers west of En Kerem, near the village of Even
Sapir, is the monastery and chapel dedicated to St. John in the Desert.
Christian tradition connects the site to the period when John the Baptist
became a recluse as described in the verse: “And the child grew, and
waxed strang in spirit, and was in the deserts till the day of his shewing
unto Israel” (Luke?: 80).

From the plentiful vegetation and the spring flowing under the
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Very impressive remains, however, were uncovered from the time of
the Crusaders, who from here had their first glimpse of the buildings
and fortifications of Jerusalem in the summer of 1099. Perhaps the joy
and excitement that overwhelmed the knights when they saw
Jerusalem for the first time after a journey of approximately three years
were what inspired the name they gave to this site — the Mountain of
Joy {(Mons Gaudii in Latin, Montjoie in medieval French).

The ruins of a gigantic Crusader fortress, 100 meters long and 50 meters
wide, have been discovered at the spot. At its center is an impressive,
beautifully constructed church called St. Samuel of Shiloh. North of
the fortress, in an area used as a quarry, an enormaous stable was built
— 24 meters long and 7.6 meters wide. Large wells were dug and
extensive areas leveled, apparently as a resting spot for companies of
knights and caravans of pilgrims on their way to Jerusalem. The
Crusaders arranged for an organized supply of water and food for the
thousands of people who stopped here. They also built towers, a
magnificent public building, and two oil presses outside the grounds
of the fortress. Construction of the church and the large fortress were
campleted in 1157.

Thirty years fater, in 1187, the fortress was taken by Saladin. During
the Third Crusade {1192}, it was controlled by the Muslims. Richard
the Lionheart, the English King who led the Crusade, was only allowed
a view of Jerusalem from this spot. The King’s biographer wrote that
as tears fell from his eyes and he covered his face with his shield he
said that he did not deserve to see the city which he had been unable
to liberate.

After the Crusader period the fortress was converted into a mosque,
and later, in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, it also served as a
synagogue. After a struggfe between Jews and Muslims that continued
for hundreds of years it becarmme a mosque again in 1730. During the
First World War, and again in the wars of 1948 and 1967, there were
bitter battles at this site, which holds a strategic command over
Jerusalem from the west. In the last few years it has been used as a
common place of worship for alt Jews, Muslims and Christians who
believe that this is the burial site of the prophet Samuel.

From Nebi Samwil we will continue westwards through the village of
Bidu until we reach El-Qubeibeh.
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